

IUHPE Position Paper on Health Impact Assessment



Contact Information

International Union for Health Promotion and Education - IUHPE c/o Santé publique France
12 rue du Val d'Osne
94415 Saint-Maurice, France

International secretariat IUHPE-UIPES c/o École de Santé Publique Université de Montréal 7101 avenue du Parc, 3rd floor Montréal QC H3N 1X9, Canada www.iuhpe.org

Twitter: @IUHPE

Email: <u>iuhpe@iuhpe.org</u>

© 2017 International Union for Health Promotion and Education

This position paper was written by Ben Harris-Roxas, Ben Cave, Hillary Dreaves, Gabriel Gulis, Fiona Haigh, Elizabeth Harris, Katie Hirono, Françoise Jabot, Marilyn Rice, Ana Rivadeneyra, Anne Roué le Gall, Jean Simos, Louise St Pierre, Marilyn Wise on behalf of the IUHPE Global Working Group on Health Impact Assessment. It was approved in the IUHPE Executive Board meeting held in June 2017.

Please cite information contained in the document as follows: International Union for Health Promotion and Education (2017). IUHPE Position paper on Health Impact Assessment. IUHPE Global Working Group on Health Impact Assessment. Paris: IUHPE.

The International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE) is a global professional non-governmental organisation dedicated to health promotion around the world for more than 65 years. The IUHPE operates a unique worldwide, independent, global, professional network of people and institutions committed to improving the health and wellbeing of the people through the integration of health in all policies, advocacy for effective health promotion, translation of research and workforce development.

Find out more at www.iuhpe.org.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Purpose	
Health impact assessment and its role in promoting health and health equ	uity 6
Definition	7
What is HIA?	8
Principles underpinning HIA and its use	9
Equity	9
Sustainability	9
Democracy	9
Inclusivity	9
Using multiple sources of evidence	9
Ethical use of evidence	9
Flexibility of the approach	10
Collaboration	10
What HIA is not	11
The steps of HIA	12
The use of HIA to promote health	13
Use of HIA	14
HIA and other forms of impact assessment	15

Alignment of HIA with IUHPE's priority areas	16
IUHPE's roles in expanding the use of HIA to promote health	17
Acknowledgements	18
References	18

PURPOSE

This position paper on health impact assessment (HIA) and health promotion provides information to guide the International Union for Health Promotion and Education (IUHPE) Board and membership as they take action to enhance the effectiveness of policies, plans, and projects intended to improve the health of populations and to advance health equity.

The paper defines HIA and describes its uses in promoting health and advancing health equity, including links with other forms of impact assessment.

HEALTH IMPACT ASSESSMENT AND ITS ROLE IN PROMOTING HEALTH AND HEALTH EQUITY

Promoting the health of populations and enhancing health equity requires health and other sectors to implement a range of strategies taken over time, including:

- enhancing the positive impact on health and health equity of public policy developed and implemented by the health and all other sectors
- increasing personal knowledge and skills
- supporting communities to participate in creating positive social change
- reorienting health services to strengthen their roles in promoting population health, preventing illness and injury, and in reducing inequities in health
- working in partnership with communities and other sectors to create physical and social environments that support health and increase health equity.

DEFINITION

Health impact assessment (HIA) is a combination of methods and research tools by which policies, programs or projects can be assessed to identify their potential effects on the health of populations, and the distribution of those effects within populations (adapted from ECHP 1999, Mahoney and Morgan 2001). HIA identifies appropriate action to manage those effects (Quigley et al. 2006). The purpose of HIA is to develop evidence-informed recommendations to inform decision makers about actions to increase the positive and reduce the negative impacts on health of their plans, projects, or policies (National Research Council 2011).

Health Promotion and HIA strengthen mutually. The current practice of health impact assessment makes reference to several principles of health promotion. Not only it aims at acting on the social determinants of health, but it carries equity as its central value through its concern for the groups which are more vulnerable to the changes proposed by new policies. Advocating for an intersectoral approach, it values the contribution of knowledge of all kinds, including those of citizens. The participation of stakeholders in the process of impact analysis and in that of decision-making is relevant to the objective of conferring a bigger control over the determinants of health (WHO 1986).

Besides, HIA is one of healthy public policy development strategies to improve the conditions in which the populations evolve.

IUHPE encourages and supports the use of HIA in recognition of the opportunity it offers to increase the positive impacts of plans, programmes, projects or policies developed by all sectors on health.

WHAT IS HIA?

HIA is a process to ensure that the potential health benefits of policies, programs and projects are maximised, and that the potential negative health consequences and health risks are minimised (WHO ROA 9009). HIAs also identify and address potential health inequities that may arise from policies, programs and projects proposed by the health and all other sectors (WHO 2008a, WHO 2008b, IFC 2009, IFC 2006). HIA is done *before* proposals or decisions are implemented.

HIA is an essential approach of health promotion to equip the decision-makers at every level (municipal, regional and national) so that an analysis of the potential effects on health would be integrated into the steps of planning a program, a project or a policy.

HIA is a structured process by which evidence is gathered and stakeholders are engaged. It uses a broad range of evidence from public health, social sciences, biophysical sciences, and political science to assessment plans, programmes, projects or policies with stakeholders and affected communities or populations. HIA assesses potential impacts on health, both positive and negative.

HIAs assess the distribution of health benefits and harms in terms of:

- socioeconomic status, in particular poverty
- age
- gender
- culture and language
- location, including both proximity and remoteness
- existing levels of disability and health.

In addition to assessing the distribution of impacts on the social, environmental determinants of health, health impact assessment should consider impacts on the determinants of health inequities. These are distinct and include changes to factors such as values, history, norms, power and context (political, cultural, colonial, economic and social, Mantoura and Morrison 2016, Harris and Harris-Roxas 2010).

PRINCIPLES UNDERPINNING HIA AND ITS USE

Equity

Equity in HIA relates to equitable opportunities for health for different communities and population groups in terms of socioeconomic status, gender, culture, ethnic, age, geographic area, disability and current health, and other dimensions of people's lives. In the context of HIA it refers to the distribution of impacts amongst communities and populations, including both positive and negative impacts.

Sustainability

Assessing the short-term, long-term, cumulative and intergenerational impacts of proposed plans, projects, programmes or policies.

Democracy

Democratic processes within governments, organisations and communities to enhance governance, accountability and transparency.

Inclusivity

Inclusion and involvement of people in the decisions that shape their lives and have an impact upon their health and wellbeing.

Using multiple sources of evidence

Ensuring that multiple forms of evidence inform the assessment, including scientific research, academic literature, and lay knowledge.

Ethical use of evidence

Using the most rigorous evidence within HIAs and refraining from selective use of research or findings.

Flexibility of the approach

Effective HIA responds and adapts to the decision-making, disciplinary, and political context within which proposals are being implemented.

Collaboration

Collaboration across multiple sectors and disciplines, drawing on expertise and knowledge beyond the health sector alone.

WHAT HIA IS NOT

HIAs are done *before* proposals or decisions are implemented. HIAs are not a replacement for planning activities. They are not evaluation, which is typically done during or after implementation. HIAs are also not solely monitoring frameworks or predictive models. HIAs complement these activities but they are not replacements for them. HIA is not a descriptive research for its own sake; it seeks to inform decision-making and implementation

HIAs should not be done on *all* proposed plans, programmes, projects or policies. HIAs should be conducted when:

- there is scope to influence the decisions of policy makers, planners or project engineers
- there are likely to be significant impacts on health and/or equity
- there is limited information already available on the likely impacts
- there is a high level of concern about the proposed plan, programme, project or policy's potential impacts on health.

THE STEPS OF HIA

HIA follows a stepwise, sequential process (Table 1).

Table 1: Overview of the steps of HIA

Step	Purpose and components
Screening	Determine whether an HIA is appropriate or required;
	describe the rationale for proceeding with the HIA and
	desired outcomes
Scoping	Set the parameters for the HIA (may also be known as
	developing terms of reference); outline the process to be
	followed; agree on the potential impact pathways to be
	considered
Assessment	Assess potential impacts on human health; develop a
	community and/or population profile; collect information and
	evidence to identify potential impacts on health and health
	equity; predict potential health impacts; describe potential
	positive and negative impacts
Developing	Develop recommendations for acting on the HIA's findings
recommendations	to enhance health and minimise harms; develop a health
	management plan
Follow-up and Evaluation	Follow up monitoring and use of health management plan;
	evaluate changes to decision-making and implementation as
	a result of the HIA

Adapted from Harris et al. (2007) and National Research Council (2011).

This process is a comprehensive, systematic approach but can be adapted to the specific decision-making contexts (Bourcier et al. 2014).

THE USE OF HIA TO PROMOTE HEALTH

There is evidence that HIAs have resulted in changes to plans, projects, programmes and policies (Wismar et al. 2007, Haigh et al. 2015). These changes have led to increasing positive impacts on health, preventing negative impacts, and increasing access to essential services. The factors that have been identified as enhancing the success of HIAs include:

- a stepwise but flexible process
- an evidence-based approach
- timing and timeliness of HIAs
- involvement of decision-makers and communities
- relationships and partnerships
- political support
- HIA capacity, experience, training and technical resources
- academic involvement ad partnerships
- culture of intersectoral work
- supportive policy context (Bourcier et al. 2014, Haigh et al. 2015, Ross et al. 2014, Ison 2012, Simos et al. 2015).

USE OF HIA

There is a large range of policies, plans, programmes and projects from different sectors to which HIAs have added value, including:

- land use and spatial planning
- airport development and expansion
- transport
- housing
- energy
- extractive industries
- waste management
- climate change adaptation and mitigation
- employment
- income (Kemm 2013).

There are also various forms of HIA institutionalisation and various configurations of implementation of HIA (compulsory, voluntary) at national and local levels.

HIA AND OTHER FORMS OF IMPACT ASSESSMENT

The process of HIA is similar to that of other forms of impact assessment. Where possible it is desirable to integrate and align HIA with other forms of assessment (Quigley et al. 2006). There is significant potential, particularly in relation to environmental and social impact assessments, for integration and alignment.

IUHPE's focus is on improving the health of populations and on advancing health equity. IUHPE will work towards the following goals:

- better consideration and analysis of health within the range of existing impact assessments
- supporting, and further developing, the use and implementation of HIA
- promoting the use of, and developing better, integrated assessments, and
- promoting the use of HIA as part of a Health in All Policies approach.

ALIGNMENT OF HIA WITH IUHPE'S PRIORITY AREAS

IUHPE has identified four strategies as part of its Strategic Directions (2015-2020, see Figure 2):

- i. promoting a health in all policies approach
- ii. advocacy for health promoting policies and programs
- iii. translating research and evidence into useable knowledge and know-how
- iv. supporting capacity building of the health promotion workforce.

HIA has been identified as an important mechanism for all advancing all four strategies.

Noncommunicable
diseases

Noncommunicable
diseases

Sustainable
development

Sustainable
development

Figure 2: IUHPE Strategic Directions 2015-2020

IUHPE'S ROLES IN EXPANDING THE USE OF HIA TO PROMOTE HEALTH

IUHPE recognises HIA plays a critical role in promoting health, and will seek to facilitate the inclusion of HIA in all comprehensive strategies to promote health. IUHPE takes the position that health impact assessment:

- plays a meaningful role in promoting health and advancing health equity
- is an important part of health promotion practice. It is explicitly identified as such in international declarations (WHO 2005, WHO and SA Government 2010)
- is distinct from planning, evaluation and monitoring
- should be integrated and aligned with other forms of impact assessment
- constitutes a key component of IUHPE's strategic directions, including Health in All Policies,
 advocacy, translation of research, and workforce development
- constitutes a relevant tool to achieving the Sustainable Development Goals (United Nations 2012).

IUHPE facilitates the exchange of HIA ideas and developments, and supports HIA in many countries. IUHPE achieves this through its:

- global and regional conferences
- regional committees
- peer-reviewed journal
- projects carried out in multiple countries
- research and practice networks, including support of Global Working Groups
- strategic partnerships with international organisations including the World Health Organization, the International Association for Impact Assessment, and other professional associations and civil society groups.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the contribution of all members of the Global Working Group on Health Impact Assessment and members of IUHPE to the development of HIA in the context of health promotion, and the development of this document.

REFERENCES

Birley, M. (2011). *Health Impact Assessment: Principles and practice*. London: Routledge.

Bourcier, E., Charbonneau, D., Cahill, C. and Dannenberg, A. (2014). *Do health impact assessments make a difference? A national evaluation of HIAs in the United States*. Seattle: Center for Community Health and Evaluation.

https://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/issue_briefs/2014/rwjf409204

Cashmore, M. and Morgan, R. (2014). The impact assessment 'arms race' and visions for the future. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 32 (1): 25-26. https://doi.org/10.1080/14615517.2013.872850

Coveney, J. (2010). Analyzing Public Health Policy: Three Approaches. *Health Promotion Practice*, 11(4): 515-521. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524839908318831

ECHP (1999). Gothenburg Consensus Paper on Health Impact Assessment: Main concepts and suggested approach. European Centre for Health Policy. Brussels: WHO Regional Office for Europe.

Fehr, R., Viliani, F., Nowacki, J. and Martuzzi, M. (eds) (2014). *Health in Impact Assessments: Opportunities not to be missed*. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe. http://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environment-and-health/health-impact-assessments-opportunities-not-to-be-missed

Gulis, G., Mekel, O., Adam, B., Cori, L. (Eds.) (2014). *Assessment of Population Health Risks of Policies*. New York: Springer.

Haigh, F., Harris, E., Harris-Roxas, B., Baum, F., Dannenberg, A., Harris, M., Keleher, H., Kemp, L., Morgan, R., Ng Chok, H. and Spickett, J. (2015). What makes health impact assessments successful? Factors contributing to effectiveness in Australia and New Zealand. *BMC Public Health*. 15:1009, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2319-8

Harris, E. and Harris-Roxas, B. (2010). Health in All Policies: A pathway for thinking about our broader societal goals. *Public Health Bulletin South Australia*, 7(2): 43-46. http://pandora.nla.gov.au/pan/87601/20110305-
1800/www.health.sa.gov.au/pehs/publications/publichealthbulletin-pehs-sahealth-1007.pdf

Harris-Roxas, B. and Harris, E. (2011). Differing Forms, Differing Purposes: A Typology of Health Impact Assessment. *Environmental Impact Assessment Review*, 31(4): 396-403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eiar.2010.03.003

Harris-Roxas, B., Viliani, F., Bond, A., Cave, B., Divall, M., Furu, P., Harris, P., Soeberg, M., Wernham, A. and Winkler, M. (2012). Health Impact Assessment: The state of the art. *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal*, 30(1): 43-52. https://doi.org/10.1080/14615517.2012.666035

IFC (2006). *Performance Standards on Social & Environmental Sustainability*. International Finance Corporation. Washington, DC: World Bank Group.

https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/ac3381804886593bb892fa6a6515bb18/IFC%2BPerformance%2BStandards.pdf?MOD=AJPERES&attachment=true&id=1322803957411

IFC (2009). *Introduction to Health Impact Assessment*, International Finance Corporation. Washington, DC: World Bank Group.

https://www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/a0f1120048855a5a85dcd76a6515bb18/HealthImpact.pdf?
MOD=AJPERES&CACHEID=a0f1120048855a5a85dcd76a6515bb18

Ison, E. (2012). Health impact assessment in a network of European Cities. *Journal of Urban Health: Bulletin of the New York Academy of Medicine*, 90 (S1): 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11524-011-9644-8

Jabot, F. and Roué-Le Gall, A. (2017). L'évaluation d'impact sur la santé, un atout pour la promotion de la santé. In Breton, E., Jabot, F., Pommier, J., Sherlaw, W. (eds), *La promotion de la santé : comprendre pour agir dans le monde francophone*. Rennes : Presses de l'EHESP, 457-496.

Kemm, J. (Ed.) (2013). *Health Impact Assessment: Past achievements, current understandings, and future progress*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Mahoney, M. and Morgan, R.K. (2001). Health Impact Assessment in Australia and New Zealand: An exploration of methodological concerns. *Health Promotion & Education*, 8(1): 8-11. https://doi.org/10.1177/102538230100800104

Mantoura, P. and Morrison, V. (2016). *Policy Approaches to Reducing Health Inequalities*. Montréal, Québec: National Collaborating for Centre for Healthy Public Policy. http://www.ncchpp.ca/docs/2016 Ineg Ineq ApprochesPPInegalites En.pdf

Mattig, T., Cantoreggi, N., Simos, J., Favre Kruit, C. and Christie, D.P. (2017). HIA in Switzerland: strategies for achieving Health in All Policies. *Health Promotion International*, 32(1): 149-156. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dav087

Mittelmark, M. (2001). Promoting Social Responsibility for Health: Health impact assessment and health public policy at a community level. *Health Promotion International*, 16(3): 269-274. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/16.3.269

National Research Council (2011). *Improving Health in the United States: The Role of Health Impact Assessment*. Washington, DC: National Academies Press. http://www.nap.edu/catalog.php?record_id=13229

Nilunger Mannheimer, L., Lehto, J. and Östlin, P. (2007). Window of Opportunity for Intersectoral Health Policy in Sweden: Open, half-open or half-shut? *Health Promotion International*, 22(4): 307-315. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dam028

O'Mullane, M. (Ed.) (2013). *Integrating Health Impact Assessment into the Policy Process:*Lessons and Experiences from around the World. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Povall, S., Haigh, F., Abrahams, D. and Scott-Samuel, A. (2010). *Health Equity Impact Assessment: Project Report.* IMPACT. Liverpool: University of Liverpool.

Quigley, R., den Broeder, L., Furu, P., Bond, A., Cave, B. and Bos, R. (2006). *Health Impact Assessment International Best Practice Principles*. Special Publication Series No. 5. Fargo, USA: International Association for Impact Assessment. http://www.iaia.org/uploads/pdf/SP5_3.pdf

Ross, C., Orenstein, M. and Botchwey, N. (2014). *Health Impact Assessment in the United States*. New York: Springer.

Simos, J., Spanswick, L., Palmer, N. and Christie, D. (2015). The role of health impact assessment in Phase V of the Healthy Cities European Network. *Health Promotion International*, 30(S1): i71–i85. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dav032

St-Pierre, L., Lamarre, M.C. and Simos, J. (2014). L'évaluation d'impact sur la santé : une démarche intersectorielle pour l'action sur les déterminants sociaux, économiques et environnementaux de la santé. *Global Health Promotion*, 21(S1): 7-14. https://doi.org/10.1177/1757975914522667

Tollec, L., Roué-Le Gall, A., Jourdren, A., Auffray, F., Jabot, F., Vidy, A., Thébault, P., Mordelet, P., Potelon, J.-L. and Simos, J. (2013). L'Évaluation d'Impacts sur la Santé (EIS): une démarche d'intégration des champs santé-environnement dans la voie du développement durable.

Application à un projet d'aménagement urbain: la halte ferroviaire de Pontchaillou à Rennes, Développement durable et territoires. Économie, géographie, politique, droit, sociologie, 4(2). https://doi.org/10.4000/developpementdurable.9815

Valentini, H., Saint-Pierre, L. (2013). L'évaluation d'impact de la santé, une démarche structurée pour instaurer de la santé dans toutes les politiques. *Santé publique*, 24(6): 479-482. https://doi.org/10.3917/spub.126.0479

United Nations (2012). *66/288. The Future We Want*. Resolution adopted by the General Assembly on 27 July. New York: United Nations.

http://www.un.org/ga/search/view_doc.asp?symbol=A/RES/66/288&Lang=E

WHO (1986). *The Ottawa Charter for Health Promotion*. Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/previous/ottawa/en/

WHO (2005). *The Bangkok Charter on Health Promotion in a Globalized World*. Geneva: World Health Organisation.

https://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/6gchp/bangkok_charter/en/

WHO (2008a). Closing the Gap in a Generation: Health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Commission on the Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/social_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/en/

WHO (2008b). *World Health Report 2008: Primary health care - Now more than ever*. Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/whr/2008/en/

WHO & SA Government (2010). *Adelaide Statement on Health in All Policies: Moving towards a shared governance for health and wellbeing*. Geneva: World Health Organization and South Australian Government.

https://www.who.int/social_determinants/hiap_statement_who_sa_final.pdf

WHO ROA (2009). *Libreville Declaration on Health and Environment in Africa, Libreville, 29 August 2008*. Brazzaville, Republic of Congo: World Health Organization Regional Office for Africa. https://afro.who.int/publications/libreville-declaration

Winkler, M.S., Krieger, G.R., Divall, M.J., Cissé, G., Wielga, M., Singer, B.H., Tanner, M. and Utzinger, J. (2013). Untapped potential of health impact assessment. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 91(4): 298-305. https://doi.org/10.2471/BLT.12.112318

Wismar, M., Blau, J., Ernst, K. and Figueras, J. (Eds.) (2007). *The Effectiveness of Health Impact Assessment: Scope and limitations of supporting decision-making in Europe*, European Observatory on Health Systems and Policies. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe. http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0003/98283/E90794.pdf



INTERNATIONAL UNION FOR HEALTH PROMOTION AND EDUCATION UNION INTERNATIONALE DE PROMOTION DE LA SANTÉ ET D'ÉDUCATION POUR LA SANTÉ UNIÓN INTERNACIONAL DE PROMOCIÓN DE LA SALUD Y EDUCACIÓN PARA LA SALUD

IUHPE Headquarters
c/o Santé publique France
12 rue du Val d'Osne
94415 Saint-Maurice, France

International secretariat IUHPE-UIPES c/o École de Santé Publique Université de Montréal 7101 avenue du Parc, 3rd floor

Montréal QC H3N 1X9, Canada

www.iuhpe.org

Twitter: @IUHPE

Email: iuhpe@iuhpe.org